
Notes: 
(1) Board Action Required   (3) Information RE: Policy or Performance 
(2)  Future Board Action   (4) General Information for Business or Education 

      * Information Enclosed 

GRAND HAVEN BOARD OF LIGHT AND POWER MEETING AGENDA 
Monday, February 23, 2026 

Meeting to be held at 1700 Eaton Drive 
6:00 PM 

 
1. Call to Order / Roll Call / Excuse Absent Members 
 
2. Approve Meeting Agenda (1) * 
 
3. Pledge of Allegiance 

 
4. Public Comment Period 

 
5. Consent Agenda (1) 

A. Approve Minutes 
1. January 15, 2025 Meeting Minutes * 

B. Receive and File: January Financial Statements, Power Supply & Retail Sales Dashboards * 
C. Receive and File: January Key Performance Indicators (KPI) Dashboard * 
D. Receive and File: MPPA ESP Resource Position Report (dated 1/30/2026) * 
E. Approve Payment of Bills ($6,255,913.83 in total)  

1. In the amount of $5,616,446.30 from the Operation & Maintenance Fund 
2. In the amount of $639,467.53 from the Renewal & Replacement Fund 

F. Approve Confirming Purchase Orders ($36,906 in total) 
1. PO #23622, DataVoice, $36,906 (2026 OMS Hosting Subscription) 

 
6. General Manager’s Report * 

A. Approve Purchase Orders ($342,569 in total) (1) 
1. PO #23619, Resco, $78,992 (Padmount Transformers x 20 for BLP Stock) 
2. PO #23620, Resco, $31,200 (Polemount Transformers x 6 for BLP Stock) 
3. PO #23629, City of GH, $232,377 (Phase 2 & 3 of Remedial Data Collection Work Plan)* 

B. MPPA – Energy Hedge Plan Power Purchase Commitment Authorization (1) * 
C. Winter Storm Fern Takeaways (3) * 
D. MPPA – BTMG Update (4) * 
E. MPPA – 2025 Carbon Report (3) * 

 
7. Chairman’s Report  
 
8. Other Business 

A. Key Accounts Luncheon (4)* 
 

9. Public Comment Period 
 

10. Adjourn 



 GRAND HAVEN BOARD OF LIGHT AND POWER 
MINUTES 

JANUARY 15, 2026 

 - 1 -  
  
 

A regular meeting of the Grand Haven Board of Light and Power was held on Thursday, January 

15, 2026, at 6:00 PM at 1700 Eaton Drive in Grand Haven, Michigan and electronically via live 

Zoom Webinar.  

The meeting was called to order at 6:02 PM by Chairperson Westbrook. 

Present: Directors Polyak, Welling, and Westbrook.  

Absent: Directors Crum and Knoth. 

Others Present: General Manager Rob Shelley, Secretary to the Board Danielle Martin, Finance 

Manager Lynn Diffell, Operations and Power Supply Manager Erik Booth, and Distribution and 

Engineering Manager Austin Gagnon.   

26-01A Director Welling, supported by Director Polyak, moved to excuse Directors Crum and 

Knoth from the meeting for personal reasons.  

Roll Call Vote: 

In favor: Directors Polyak, Welling and Westbrook; Opposed: None. 

Motion carried. 

26-01B Director Welling, supported by Director Polyak, moved to approve the meeting agenda. 

Roll Call Vote: 

In favor: Directors Polyak, Welling and Westbrook; Opposed: None. 

Motion carried. 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Public Comment Period: 

Jim Hagen, 400 Lake, commented on a Consumers Energy solar project he felt was well designed 

and encouraged the Board to look to it as an example.   

26-01C Director Welling, supported by Director Polyak, moved to approve the consent agenda. 

The consent agenda includes: 

 Approve the December 18, 2025 meeting minutes 

 Receive and File the December Financial Statements and Power Supply and Retail Sales 

Dashboards 

 Receive and File the December Key Performance Indicator (KPI) Dashboard  

 Receive and File the MPPA Energy Services Project Resource Position Report dated 

12/23/2025 



 GRAND HAVEN BOARD OF LIGHT AND POWER 
MINUTES 

JANUARY 15, 2026 

 - 2 -  
  
 

 Approve payment of bills in the amount of $2,371,397.44 from the Operation & 

Maintenance Fund 

 Approve payment of bills in the amount of $712,996.37 from the Renewal & Replacement 

Fund 

Roll Call Vote: 

In favor: Directors Polyak, Welling and Westbrook; Opposed: None. 

Motion carried.  

26-01D Director Welling, supported by Director Polyak, moved to approve the Purchase Orders. 

The Purchase Orders include: 

 Purchase Order #23245-1 to Kent Power in the amount of $91,071 for a Harbor Drive 

underground project change order 

 Purchase Order #23603 to Western Tel-Com in the amount of $34,668 for a directional bore 

at Waverly and Eastern  

There were a few difficulties getting the wire through on Harbor Drive and the change order is for 

the associated additional labor costs. The project is now expected to be wrapped up by the first 

week of March.   

Roll Call Vote: 

In favor: Directors Polyak, Welling and Westbrook; Opposed: None. 

Motion carried.  

26-01E Director Welling, supported by Director Polyak, moved to accept the strategic planning 

proposal from Steve Vandermeer.  

Staff interviewed three firms for strategic planning facilitation. All three firms were equally 

qualified to conduct this work. Staff recommends accepting Steve Vandermeer’s proposal 

because it was the low-cost bid and the Board has familiarity with Steve from the recently 

conducted governance training. The strategic planning timeline was reviewed and includes a 

Board strategic planning workshop in April with the final draft to be approved at the Board’s June 

meeting.   

Roll Call Vote: 

In favor: Directors Polyak, Welling and Westbrook; Opposed: None. 

Motion carried.  

 



 GRAND HAVEN BOARD OF LIGHT AND POWER 
MINUTES 

JANUARY 15, 2026 

 - 3 -  
  
 

26-01F Erik Booth provided a presentation to kick off the discussion on community solar. The 

BLP’s customer satisfaction survey results were reviewed along with three other community solar 

projects in the state. The BLP’s concept for community solar is for a project size of 0.3 to 0.5 

megawatts with an installation cost of approximately $1 million. The piece of land identified as a 

desired location is eight acres.  

It is important to note that purpose of a community solar project is to meet the wishes of the 

community; it would not be a power supply hedge for the BLP. Similarly, the voluntary program 

is not designed to reduce participants’ electric bills, instead it offers an opportunity to participate 

in a program that generates clean energy.  

By consensus, the Board provided the following guidance to staff for moving forward with the 

community solar project:  

 A subscription rate of 33% must be reached before the project moves forward 

 The project should start at 0.3 megawatts in size; additional phases may be added if the 

project is successful 

 The subscriptions will have a 20-year term 

 Ownership can be transferred if a customer moves within the BLP territory or donated to a 

non-profit organization if the customer is moving off system 

 No formal action taken.  

Other Business  

 Coffee with the General Manager sessions to gather input for strategic planning will be 

held January 23rd at Sidebar Café and February 27th at Kenzie’s Be Café, both from 

8:00am to 9:30am.  

 Community forums to gather input for strategic planning will be held at Central Park 

Place on February 5th from 4:30pm to 6:00pm and February 10th from 6:30pm to 8:00pm.   

 A joint meeting of the BLP and City Council will be held on May 7th at 6:00pm at City 

Hall.  

Public Comment Period:  

Jim Hagen, 400 Lake, asked the Board to consider including an escalation schedule to the credit 

rate for customers participating in the community solar project.  

 

 



 GRAND HAVEN BOARD OF LIGHT AND POWER 
MINUTES 

JANUARY 15, 2026 

 - 4 -  
  
 

Adjournment 

At 7:19PM by motion of Director Welling, supported by Director Polyak, the January 15, 2026 

Board meeting was unanimously adjourned.  

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

 

Danielle Martin 

Secretary to the Board      

DM 



 

JANUARY 2026 JANUARY 2025

 

ASSETS
     CURRENT ASSETS

       CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS $26,843,991 $28,106,004

       ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 4,294,909 4,340,416

       PREPAID 2,246 2,581

31,141,146 32,449,001

 

     NON-CURRENT ASSETS

       DEPOSITS HELD BY MPIA 11,978,964 10,473,032

       DEPOSITS HELD BY MPPA 2,500,000 2,500,000

       ADVANCE TO CITY OF GRAND HAVEN 383,299 551,755

       MITIGATION FUND 17,797,003 16,885,545

       2021A BOND FUND 0 398,659

       2021A BOND REDEMPTION FUND 242,656 273,427

32,901,922 31,082,418

 

     CAPITAL ASSETS

       CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS 5,429,163 1,622,394

       PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 69,945,897 68,381,811

         LESS ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION (33,210,370) (31,283,118)

42,164,690 38,721,087

 

     TOTAL ASSETS $106,207,758 $102,252,506

 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS/(INFLOWS)
       PENSION/OPEB RELATED 2,345,348 3,736,804

 

LIABILITIES
     CURRENT LIABILITIES

       ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 1,721,653                          1,717,446                          

       SERIES 2021A BOND CURRENT 2,520,408                          2,423,568                          

       ACCRUED PAYROLL LIABILITIES 421,763                             220,015                             

       CUSTOMER DEPOSITS 961,531                             963,919                             

       ACCRUED TRANSFER FUND 154,306                             157,229                             

5,779,661 5,482,177

 

 

     LONG TERM LIABILITIES

       ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION - MITIGATION 16,612,774 17,216,980

       ACCRUED SICK AND PTO 273,602                             241,712                             

       SERIES 2021A BOND 13,000,000 15,500,000

       NET PENSION LIABILITIES 4,747,289                          5,491,563                          

       NET OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT 644,413 929,482

35,278,078 39,379,737

 

          TOTAL LIABILITIES 41,057,739 44,861,914

 

 

     NET POSITION

       BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 63,106,783 56,080,669

       YTD INCREASE IN NET ASSETS 4,388,584 5,046,727

          NET POSITION 67,495,367 61,127,396

 

    TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $108,553,106 $105,989,310

GRAND HAVEN BOARD OF LIGHT AND POWER

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

FOR THE MONTH ENDING JANUARY 2026

2/11/2026



GRAND HAVEN BOARD OF LIGHT AND POWER

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

FOR THE MONTH OF JANUARY 2026

Percent Percent

Current Period YTD YTD Variance Variance Previous Year Previous Year Variance Variance

Actual Actual Budget Over (Under) Actual vs Budget Current Period YTD Over (Under) Actual vs Last Year

Operating Revenue

 

Residential Sales 1,205,813$        8,899,021$       8,401,664$      497,357$            5.92% 1,216,898$        8,261,447$      637,574$              7.72%

Commercial Sales 879,565              6,719,545         6,591,952        127,593              1.94% 872,244              6,379,220        340,325                5.33%

Industrial Sales 814,892              6,732,351         6,158,916        573,435              9.31% 874,244              6,771,457        (39,106)                 -0.58%

Municipal Sales 84,370                676,600            592,956            83,644                14.11% 78,419                628,905            47,695                  7.58%

  Total Charges for Services 2,984,640           23,027,517       21,745,488      1,282,029          5.90% 3,041,805           22,041,029      986,488                4.48%

 

Street Lighting 28,232                197,435            195,999            1,436                  0.73% 28,113                196,501            934                        0.48%

 

Other Revenue 127,438              332,149            223,183            108,966              48.82% 64,230                444,306            (112,157)               -25.24%

   Total Operating Revenue 3,140,310           23,557,101       22,164,670      1,392,431          6.28% 3,134,148           22,681,836      875,265                3.86%

 

Operating Expenses

  Net Purchased Power 2,398,578           12,548,405       11,913,976      634,429              5.33% 1,898,874           11,939,898      608,507                5.10%

  Distribution Operations 121,622              882,105            818,754            63,351                7.74% 111,403              796,957            85,148                  10.68%

  Distribution Maintenance 285,145              1,959,095         2,307,328        (348,233)            -15.09% 278,973              1,740,487        218,608                12.56%

  Energy Optimization 363                      117,479            72,917              44,562                61.11% 8,621                   101,443            16,036                  15.81%

  Administration 327,744              1,860,840         1,894,126        (33,286)               -1.76% 273,039              1,718,911        141,929                8.26%

  Legacy Pension Expense 48,034                324,341            233,333            91,008                39.00% 15,317                92,153              232,188                251.96%

Operating Expenses Before Depreciation 3,181,486           17,692,265       17,240,434      451,831              2.62% 2,586,227           16,389,849      1,302,416             7.95%

 

Operating Changes Before Depreciation (41,176)               5,864,836         4,924,236        940,600              19.10% 547,921              6,291,987        (427,151)               -6.79%

 

Depreciation 189,234              1,352,407         1,341,661        10,746                0.80% 184,227              1,294,991        57,416                  4.43%

    Operating Changes (230,410)             4,512,429         3,582,575        929,854              25.95% 363,694              4,996,996        (484,567)               -9.70%

 

Nonoperating Revenue/(Expenses) 66,634                480,700            222,914            257,786              115.64% 75,361                590,547            (109,847)               -18.60%

Asset Retirement Expense -                            -                          -                         -                           #DIV/0! -                            24,698              (24,698)                 -100.00%

Environmental Surcharge 73,241                586,003            583,331            2,672                  0.46% 74,674                575,118            10,885                  1.89%

Non-Operating Revenue/(Expenses) 139,875              1,066,703         806,245            260,458              32.31% 150,035              1,190,363        (123,660)               -10.39%

Transfers to City of Grand Haven (154,306)             (1,190,548)        (1,097,082)       (93,466)               8.52% (157,230)             (1,140,632)       (49,916)                 4.38%

 

    Increase in Net Assets (244,841)$           4,388,584$       3,291,738$      1,096,846$        33.32% 356,499$            5,046,727$      (658,143)$            -13.04%

2/11/2026



Power Supply for Month (kWh) FY2026 FY2025

Net Purchased (Sold) Power 17,435,626                        73.80% 18,063,820                        75.02%

Renewable Energy Purchases 6,189,299                          26.20% 6,015,092                          24.98%

Monthly Power Supply Total 23,624,925                        24,078,912                        

Days in Month 31 31

Average Daily kWh Supply for Month 762,094 776,739

% Change -1.89%

Power Supply FYTD FY2026 FY2025

Net Purchased (Sold) Power 129,096,879                      75.64% 126,418,041                      75.05%

Renewable Energy Purchases 41,570,921                        24.36% 42,021,970                        24.95%

FYTD Power Supply Total 170,667,800                     168,440,011                     

FYTD Days 215 215

Average Daily kWh Supply FYTD 793,804 783,442

% Change 1.32%

FY2026 FY2025

Net Purchased Power Expenses $12,548,405 $11,939,898

% Change 5.10%

Net Energy Expenses

per kWh Supplied to System FYTD $0.07353 $0.07089

% Change 3.72%

GRAND HAVEN BOARD OF LIGHT AND POWER

POWER SUPPLY DASHBOARD

FOR THE MONTH OF JANUARY 2026

2/11/2026



Monthly Retail Customers FY2026 FY2025

Residential 13,257 87.45% 13,260 87.52%

Commercial 1,663 10.97% 1,649 10.88%

Industrial 128 0.84% 127 0.84%

Municipal 111 0.73% 114 0.75%

Total 15,159 15,150

Monthly Energy Sold (kWh)

Residential 8,012,038 38.17% 7,935,836 37.08%

Commercial 6,247,541 29.76% 6,105,349 28.53%

Industrial 6,046,877 28.81% 6,675,172 31.19%

Municipal 618,171 2.94% 617,834 2.89%

Retail Monthly Total 20,924,627 99.68% 21,334,191 99.69%

Street Lighting 66,821 0.32% 66,752 0.31%

Total Monthly Energy Sold 20,991,448 21,400,943

Days in Primary Meter Cycle 31 31

kWh Sold per Day 677,143 690,353

% Change -1.91%

Energy Sold (kWh) FYTD FY2026 FY2025

Residential 59,384,751 35.35% 56,060,024 34.01%

Commercial 47,924,702 28.53% 46,557,566 28.24%

Industrial 54,846,487 32.65% 56,542,347 34.30%

Municipal 5,348,114 3.18% 5,228,157 3.17%

Retail Energy  Sold Total FYTD 167,504,054 99.72% 164,388,094 99.72%

Street Lighting 466,277 0.28% 465,573 0.28%

Energy Sold FYTD 167,970,331 164,853,667

Weighted Days in Meter Cycles FYTD 214 214

kWh Sold per Day 784,908 770,344

% Change 1.89%

Average Rate Average Rate Percent Change

Sales Revenue FYTD net ERS FY2026 ($/kWh) FY2025 ($/KWh) $/kWh

Residential $8,899,021 $0.1499 $8,261,447 $0.1474 1.69%

Commercial $6,719,545 $0.1402 $6,379,220 $0.1370 2.33%

Industrial $6,732,351 $0.1227 $6,771,457 $0.1198 2.50%

Municipal $676,600 $0.1265 $628,905 $0.1203 5.17%

Retail Sales Revenue FYTD $23,027,517 $0.1375 $22,041,029 $0.1341 2.53%

Street Lighting $197,435 $196,501

Total Sales Revenue FYTD (Excl. Wholesale) $23,224,952 $0.1383 $22,237,530 $0.1349

FY2026 FY2025

Approx. Distribution Losses FYTD 1.12% 1.67%

Net Energy Expenses/kWh Sold FYTD $0.07435 $0.07207

% Change 3.16%

GRAND HAVEN BOARD OF LIGHT AND POWER

SALES DASHBOARD

FOR THE MONTH OF JANUARY 2026

2/11/2026



GHBLP Key Performance Indicators 

February 10, 2026 

 

1) Reliability 

  

2) Power Supply 

   

3) Average Retail Revenue per kWh 

  

 

Caution

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00
5.00 6.00

7.00

8.00

9.00

10.00

SAIDI
12 Month Rolling Total  <3hrs

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan

(m
in

u
te

s/
C

u
st

o
m

er
)

System Average Interruption Index (SAIDI)

Good

-8

-6

-4

-2
0

2

4

6

8

10

FYTD Monthly System Input
(Actual vs Estimated) 

Budget Variance Goal +/- 3%

18,000

20,000

22,000

24,000

26,000

28,000

30,000

32,000

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

(M
W

h
rs

/m
o

n
th

)

Monthly System Input (MWhr)

Actual Monthly System Input Estimated Monthly System Input

Good

-8

-6

-4

-2
0

2

4

6

8

10

FYTD Average Retail Rate 
(Actual vs Estimated)

Budget Variance Goal <3%

$0.120

$0.125

$0.130

$0.135

$0.140

$0.145

$0.150

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

($
/k

W
h

r)

FYTD Average Retail Rate

Actual Average Retail Rate Estimated Average Retail Rate



 

4) Rates/PSCA 

   

5) Financial   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Good

-30%

-20%

-10%

0%

10%

20%

30%

FYTD Power Supply Cost Adjustment
(Actual vs Estimated)

Budget Variance Goal +/- 10% 

0.00000

0.00500

0.01000

0.01500

0.02000

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

($
/k

W
h

r)

Monthly Power Supply Cost Adjustment

Actual PSCA Billed Estimated PSCA

-30%

-20%

-10%

0%

10%

20%

30%

FYTD Cash Balance
(Actual vs Estimated) 

Budget Variance Goal > - 10% 

$20,000,000

$22,000,000

$24,000,000

$26,000,000

$28,000,000

$30,000,000

$32,000,000

$34,000,000

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

C
as

h
 o

n
 H

an
d

Cash

Actual Cash on Hand Estimated Cash on Hand



Page 1 of 7

Total Resources, MWh
Project Assets

Landfill Project
Contracted Power Supply

Contracted Bilateral Energy
Transactions
Contracted ESP Renewable PPAs

18,528 19,492 17,467 18,578 21,447 23,957 23,922 20,630 18,302 17,090 18,765 15,800
1,667 1,916 1,809 1,894 1,760 1,834 1,829 1,699 1,829 1,844 1,907 1,891
1,667 1,916 1,809 1,894 1,760 1,834 1,829 1,699 1,829 1,844 1,907 1,891
16,862 17,576 15,658 16,685 19,687 22,123 22,093 18,930 16,473 15,245 16,858 13,909

12,160 12,075 9,922 10,122 13,234 16,006 16,366 13,488 11,628 10,536 13,390 10,430

4,702 5,501 5,737 6,563 6,454 6,117 5,727 5,442 4,845 4,709 3,468 3,480

Power Supply, MWh Feb 26 Mar 26 Apr 26 May 26 Jun 26 Jul 26 Aug 26 Sep 26 Oct 26 Nov 26 Dec 26 Jan 27

Forecasted Hedge Plan % (w/o Peaking)
Minimum Hedge Plan %
Maximum Hedge Plan Range %
Renewables Portfolio %
Forecasted Load
Forecasted Market Balancing, MWh
Forecasted Hedge % (w/ Peaking)

90% 91% 89% 87% 86% 88% 88% 91% 88% 87% 89% 70%
75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75%
95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95%
31% 35% 38% 40% 33% 29% 28% 31% 32% 34% 25% 24%

(20,639) (21,464) (19,629) (21,341) (24,962) (27,278) (27,098) (22,679) (20,744) (19,542) (21,080) (22,695)
(2,111) (1,972) (2,162) (2,763) (3,515) (3,320) (3,177) (2,049) (2,442) (2,452) (2,315) (6,895)
90% 91% 89% 87% 86% 88% 88% 91% 88% 87% 89% 70%

Total Power Supply Feb 26 Mar 26 Apr 26 May 26 Jun 26 Jul 26 Aug 26 Sep 26 Oct 26 Nov 26 Dec 26 Jan 27

Forecasted ATC Energy Resource Position, by Month

Fo
re
ca
st
e
d

 H
e
d
g
e

 P
la
n

 %

Feb 26 Mar 26 Apr 26 May 26 Jun 26 Jul 26 Aug 26 Sep 26 Oct 26 Nov 26 Dec 26 Jan 27
0 %

20 %

40 %

60 %

80 %

100 %

31%
35%

38% 40%
33% 29% 28%

31% 32% 34%
25% 24%

90%
91% 89% 87%

86%
88% 88% 91% 88% 87% 89%

70%

GRAN is forecasted to have an average of 87% of Around the Clock (ATC) Power Supply hedged over the upcoming 12 months, and Renewable Energy Resources are forecasted to provide an average of 31% towards load.
Total Resources are forecasted to cost an average of $54.16 Per MWh, and Market Balancing Energy is forecasted to come in at an average of $56.84 per MWh. 
When including Locational Basis this results in a Total Forecasted Power Supply weighted average cost of $55.45 over the upcoming 12 months.

Minimum Hedge Plan % Maximum Hedge Plan Range % Renewables Portfolio % Forecasted Hedge Plan % (w/o Peaking)

Forecasted Prompt 12 Months Energy Resource Position for GRAN



Page 2 of 7

Total Resources, MWh
Project Assets

Landfill Project
Contracted Power Supply

Contracted Bilateral Energy
Transactions
Contracted ESP Renewable PPAs

192,437 147,113 107,875 103,294 103,102 98,153 97,886 97,415 90,868
21,880 13,620 7,491 7,491 7,490 2,652 2,653 2,371 1,818
21,880 13,620 7,491 7,491 7,490 2,652 2,653 2,371 1,818
170,557 133,493 100,383 95,802 95,612 95,501 95,233 95,044 89,049

102,210 65,331 32,422 28,032 28,032 28,109 28,032 28,032 28,032

68,347 68,162 67,962 67,770 67,580 67,392 67,201 67,012 61,017

Power Supply, MWh 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035

Forecasted ATC Energy Resource Position, by Year

Fo
re
ca
st
e
d

 H
e
d
g
e

 P
la
n

 %

2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035
0 %

20 %

40 %

60 %

80 %

100 %

2
3

%

3
4

%

3
0

%

2
8

%

2
8

% 2
3

%

7
2

%

5
5

%

4
0

%

3
8

%

3
8

%

3
7

%

3
7

%

3
6

%

3
4

%

Forecasted Hedge Plan % (w/o Peaking)
Minimum Hedge Plan %
Maximum Hedge Plan Range %
Renewables Portfolio %
Forecasted Load
Forecasted Market Balancing, MWh
Forecasted Hedge % (w/ Peaking)

72% 55% 40% 38% 38% 37% 37% 36% 34%
75% 65% 50% 35% 25% 5% 5% 5% 5%
95% 80% 70% 55% 40% 25% 25% 25% 25%
34% 30% 28% 28% 28% 26% 26% 26% 23%

(268,720) (268,491) (268,393) (268,325) (268,238) (268,176) (268,090) (268,021) (267,986)
(76,283) (121,378) (160,518) (165,031) (165,136) (170,022) (170,204) (170,606) (177,119)

72% 55% 40% 38% 38% 37% 37% 36% 34%

Total Power Supply 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035

Minimum Hedge Plan % Maximum Hedge Plan Range % Renewables Portfolio % Forecasted Hedge Plan % (w/o Peaking)

Forecasted Outer Years Energy Resource Position for GRAN



Page 3 of 7

Total Resources, $'s
Project Assets

Landfill Project
Contracted Power Supply

Contracted Bilateral Energy
Transactions
Contracted ESP Renewable PPAs

($1,093,303) ($963,416) ($896,712) ($955,586) ($1,088,393) ($1,379,597) ($1,308,157) ($1,075,954) ($925,914) ($913,853) ($1,041,226) ($1,030,144)
($182,262) ($158,414) ($193,427) ($203,095) ($176,873) ($181,061) ($177,189) ($178,769) ($153,062) ($191,596) ($188,305) ($142,626)
($182,262) ($158,414) ($193,427) ($203,095) ($176,873) ($181,061) ($177,189) ($178,769) ($153,062) ($191,596) ($188,305) ($142,626)
($911,042) ($805,002) ($703,285) ($752,491) ($911,520) ($1,198,537) ($1,130,968) ($897,185) ($772,852) ($722,257) ($852,921) ($887,518)

($683,733) ($537,696) ($424,613) ($434,172) ($597,212) ($900,867) ($852,218) ($622,040) ($529,467) ($488,399) ($682,597) ($712,244)

($227,308) ($267,306) ($278,672) ($318,319) ($314,308) ($297,670) ($278,750) ($275,144) ($243,385) ($233,857) ($170,324) ($175,274)

Power Supply $'s Feb 26 Mar 26 Apr 26 May 26 Jun 26 Jul 26 Aug 26 Sep 26 Oct 26 Nov 26 Dec 26 Jan 27

Locational Basis (Projects)
Locational Basis (Contracted Power Supply)

($1,944) $171 $1,690 ($937) ($1,196) ($993) ($2,241) ($535) $1,676 $528 ($167) ($1,530)
($21,978) ($6,154) ($19,302) ($12,984) ($25,094) ($31,868) ($21,771) ($17,684) ($19,027) ($17,113) ($19,456) ($34,397)

Locational Basis, $'s Feb 26 Mar 26 Apr 26 May 26 Jun 26 Jul 26 Aug 26 Sep 26 Oct 26 Nov 26 Dec 26 Jan 27

Power Supply $/MWh
Project Assets

Landfill Project
Contracted Power Supply

Contracted Bilateral Energy Transactions
Contracted ESP Renewable PPAs

$71.31 $58.60 $66.10 $66.22 $64.78 $67.88 $65.87 $67.29 $59.82 $66.63 $66.27 $64.70
$109.35 $82.66 $106.93 $107.25 $100.50 $98.71 $96.87 $105.20 $83.68 $103.89 $98.73 $75.43
$109.35 $82.66 $106.93 $107.25 $100.50 $98.71 $96.87 $105.20 $83.68 $103.89 $98.73 $75.43
$52.29 $46.56 $45.69 $45.70 $46.92 $52.47 $50.37 $48.34 $47.88 $48.01 $50.05 $59.33
$56.23 $44.53 $42.80 $42.90 $45.13 $56.28 $52.07 $46.12 $45.53 $46.36 $50.98 $68.29
$48.35 $48.59 $48.58 $48.50 $48.70 $48.66 $48.67 $50.56 $50.23 $49.66 $49.11 $50.37

Power Supply $/MWh Feb 26 Mar 26 Apr 26 May 26 Jun 26 Jul 26 Aug 26 Sep 26 Oct 26 Nov 26 Dec 26 Jan 27

Locational Basis (Projects)
Locational Basis (Contracted Power Supply)

$1.17 ($0.09) ($0.93) $0.49 $0.68 $0.54 $1.23 $0.32 ($0.92) ($0.29) $0.09 $0.81
$1.30 $0.35 $1.23 $0.78 $1.27 $1.44 $0.99 $0.93 $1.16 $1.12 $1.15 $2.47

Locational Basis, $/MWh Feb 26 Mar 26 Apr 26 May 26 Jun 26 Jul 26 Aug 26 Sep 26 Oct 26 Nov 26 Dec 26 Jan 27

Forecasted Energy Resource Cost, by Month

$
/M
W
h

Feb 26 Mar 26 Apr 26 May 26 Jun 26 Jul 26 Aug 26 Sep 26 Oct 26 Nov 26 Dec 26 Jan 27
$40

$60

$80

$100

$91.41

$51.73

$70.58

$57.99 $57.22

$85.79

$63.48

$49.33 $51.61 $50.92
$55.96

$52.42 $50.85 $53.15

$73.04

$59.01
$50.75

$57.59 $55.49
$65.20

Forecasted Market Balancing LMP, $/MWh
Forecasted Market Balancing LMP, $'s
Total Forecasted Power Supply, $/MWh
Total Forecasted Power Supply Costs, $'s

$91.41 $45.38 $45.64 $42.44 $51.73 $70.58 $57.99 $46.14 $45.70 $44.15 $57.22 $85.79
($192,925) ($89,460) ($98,681) ($117,245) ($181,844) ($234,358) ($184,192) ($94,552) ($111,586) ($108,276) ($132,480) ($591,488)
$63.48 $49.33 $51.61 $50.92 $51.94 $60.37 $55.96 $52.42 $50.85 $53.15 $56.61 $73.04

($1,310,150) ($1,058,858) ($1,013,005) ($1,086,752) ($1,296,526) ($1,646,815) ($1,516,361) ($1,188,726) ($1,054,851) ($1,038,713) ($1,193,329) ($1,657,559)

Total Power Supply Feb 26 Mar 26 Apr 26 May 26 Jun 26 Jul 26 Aug 26 Sep 26 Oct 26 Nov 26 Dec 26 Jan 27

Forecasted Market Balancing LMP, $/MWh Total Forecasted Power Supply, $/MWh Contracted Energy, $/MWh

Forecasted Prompt 12 Months Energy Resource Cost for GRAN
Project Asset Costs are as forecasted in the MPPA Financial Plan, including fixed costs and all other anticipated costs in addition to Energy costs.

Solar$/MWh
$'s

Wind$/MWh
$'s

($8.80) ($4.80) ($4.90) ($2.06) ($2.53) ($3.70) ($3.01) ($2.34) ($4.98) ($4.56) ($5.78) ($8.39)
($18,906.98) ($14,242.10) ($16,481.03) ($9,900.93) ($12,572.66) ($18,747.56) ($13,748.13) ($9,546.44) ($13,975.33) ($9,757.64) ($6,441.66) ($11,427.96)

($11.98) ($6.07) ($6.02) ($3.24) ($3.80) ($5.15) ($4.31) ($3.29) ($5.98) ($5.88) ($7.39) ($11.20)
($30,579.30) ($15,394.69) ($14,271.17) ($5,709.43) ($5,645.21) ($5,430.47) ($5,000.14) ($4,460.93) ($12,201.54) ($15,105.61) ($17,392.28) ($23,727.40)

Forecasted Intermittency Cost Feb 26 Mar 26 Apr 26 May 26 Jun 26 Jul 26 Aug 26 Sep 26 Oct 26 Nov 26 Dec 26 Jan 27



Page 4 of 7

Locational Basis (Projects)
Locational Basis (Contracted Power Supply)

$0.23 $0.21 $0.14 $0.13 $0.13
$1.17 $1.29 $1.53 $1.54 $1.57

Locational Basis, $/MWh 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031

Power Supply $/MWh
Project Assets

Landfill Project
Contracted Power Supply

Contracted Bilateral Energy Transactions
Contracted ESP Renewable PPAs

$59.13 $58.46 $76.53 $78.07 $79.38
$69.25 $63.45 $118.46 $121.63 $124.82
$69.25 $63.45 $118.46 $121.63 $124.82
$54.06 $55.96 $55.57 $56.30 $56.66
$57.14 $60.25 $58.76 $59.50 $59.50
$50.99 $51.67 $52.38 $53.09 $53.82

Power Supply $/MWh 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031

Locational Basis (Projects)
Locational Basis (Contracted Power Supply)

($5,092) ($2,797) ($1,018) ($992) ($948)
($199,151) ($172,399) ($154,026) ($147,840) ($149,662)

Locational Basis, $'s 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031

Total Resources, $'s
Project Assets

Landfill Project
Contracted Power Supply

Contracted Bilateral Energy
Transactions
Contracted ESP Renewable PPAs

($10,840,186) ($8,322,457) ($6,351,854) ($6,177,238) ($6,240,286)
($1,515,175) ($864,198) ($887,398) ($911,158) ($934,947)
($1,515,175) ($864,198) ($887,398) ($911,158) ($934,947)
($9,325,011) ($7,458,258) ($5,464,456) ($5,266,081) ($5,305,339)

($5,840,157) ($3,936,021) ($1,904,942) ($1,667,904) ($1,667,904)

($3,484,854) ($3,522,237) ($3,559,514) ($3,598,177) ($3,637,435)

Power Supply $'s 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031

Forecasted Market Balancing LMP, $/MWh
Forecasted Market Balancing LMP, $'s
Total Forecasted Power Supply, $/MWh
Total Forecasted Power Supply Costs, $'s

$50.66 $51.98 $55.79 $56.01 $56.79
($3,864,368) ($6,309,301) ($8,955,856) ($9,243,372) ($9,377,604)

$55.48 $55.15 $57.61 $58.02 $58.79
($14,908,797) ($14,806,954) ($15,462,755) ($15,569,443) ($15,768,500)

Total Power Supply 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031

Forecasted Energy Resource Cost, by Year

$
/M
W
h

2027 2028 2029 2030 2031
$50

$55

$60

$65

$50.66
$51.98 $55.79 $56.01

$56.79
$55.48 $56.57

$58.88 $59.80 $60.53

Forecasted Market Balancing LMP, $/MWh Total Forecasted Power Supply, $/MWh Contracted Energy, $/MWh

Forecasted Outer Years Energy Resource Cost for GRAN
Project Asset Costs are as forecasted in the MPPA Financial Plan, including fixed costs and all other anticipated costs in addition to Energy costs.

Solar$/MWh
$'s

Wind$/MWh
$'s

($3.51) ($3.58) ($3.90) ($3.90) ($3.97)
($157,797.72) ($160,302.26) ($173,720.07) ($173,044.60) ($175,428.10)

($5.79) ($6.02) ($6.35) ($6.39) ($6.47)
($135,376.97) ($140,691.56) ($148,265.18) ($149,174.48) ($151,219.09)

Forecasted Intermittency Cost 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031



Page 5 of 7

Net Capacity Position
Zone 7
Contracted Power Supply

Contracted Bilateral Capacity Transactions
Contracted ESP Renewable PPAs

Planning Reserve Margin Requirement
PRMR

Project Assets
Landfill Project

17.2 9.1 4.3 13.3 33.6 24.9 24.6 33.0 1.4 3.0 9.1 2.2 1.2 0.9 10.1 3.3 (14.0) (16.5) (3.5) (10.9)
17.2 9.1 4.3 13.3 33.6 24.9 24.6 33.0 1.4 3.0 9.1 2.2 1.2 0.9 10.1 3.3 (14.0) (16.5) (3.5) (10.9)
78.9 68.5 49.0 71.7 95.2 84.3 69.3 91.4 62.5 61.4 50.4 52.8 62.3 59.3 51.5 53.8 47.0 41.9 37.7 39.6
64.5 57.2 47.1 58.0 79.7 74.1 66.5 77.5 55.0 54.3 48.7 50.1 55.6 54.0 50.0 51.3 41.1 38.4 36.2 37.3
14.4 11.3 1.9 13.7 15.5 10.2 2.8 13.9 7.5 7.2 1.7 2.8 6.7 5.3 1.5 2.6 5.9 3.5 1.5 2.3
(63.8) (61.5) (46.7) (60.5) (63.7) (61.4) (46.7) (60.4) (61.8) (59.1) (42.0) (51.3) (61.8) (59.1) (42.0) (51.2) (61.8) (59.1) (41.9) (51.2)
(63.8) (61.5) (46.7) (60.5) (63.7) (61.4) (46.7) (60.4) (61.8) (59.1) (42.0) (51.3) (61.8) (59.1) (42.0) (51.2) (61.8) (59.1) (41.9) (51.2)
2.1 2.1 2.0 2.1 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7
2.1 2.1 2.0 2.1 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7

Capacity Resources, MW
PY 26/27 PY 27/28 PY 28/29 PY 29/30 PY 30/31

Sum Fall Win Spr Sum Fall Win Spr Sum Fall Win Spr Sum Fall Win Spr Sum Fall Win Spr

Forecasted Outer Years Capacity Resource Position for GRAN

Forecasted Capacity Resource Position in Load Zone

C
ap
ac
it
y 
(M
W
)

Sum Fall Win Spr Sum Fall Win Spr Sum Fall Win Spr Sum Fall Win Spr Sum Fall Win Spr

PY 26/27 PY 27/28 PY 28/29 PY 29/30 PY 30/31

-20

0

20

40

60

80

100

17.2
9.1 4.3

13.3

33.6
24.9 24.6

33.0

1.4

3.0
9.1

2.2

1.2 0.9

10.1
3.3

(14.0) (16.5)

(3.5)
(10.9)

63.8 61.5

46.7

60.5 63.7 61.4

46.7

60.4 61.8 59.1

42.0
51.3

61.8 59.1

42.0
51.2

61.8 59.1

41.9
51.2

Project Assets Contracted Power Supply Net Capacity Position PRMR

Total Net Capacity Position
Sum
Fall
Win
Spr

4.3 $361,200 ($1,560,733) 24.6 $2,140,200 ($1,691,099) 1.4 $126,000 ($2,849,371) 0.9 $83,700 ($2,930,816) (16.5) ($1,584,000) ($3,727,611)
4.3 $90,300 ($324,908) 24.6 $535,050 ($498,920) 1.4 $31,500 ($755,557) 0.9 $20,925 ($774,387) (16.5) ($396,000) ($973,155)
4.3 $90,300 ($455,661) 24.6 $535,050 ($416,809) 1.4 $31,500 ($744,536) 0.9 $20,925 ($750,649) (16.5) ($396,000) ($933,810)
4.3 $90,300 ($311,205) 24.6 $535,050 ($308,227) 1.4 $31,500 ($664,497) 0.9 $20,925 ($693,501) (16.5) ($396,000) ($902,379)
4.3 $90,300 ($468,959) 24.6 $535,050 ($467,143) 1.4 $31,500 ($684,781) 0.9 $20,925 ($712,278) (16.5) ($396,000) ($918,267)

Net Capacity Position
PY 26/27 PY 27/28 PY 28/29 PY 29/30 PY 30/31

Market Cap MW Market Cap $'s Total Cap $'s Market Cap MW Market Cap $'s Total Cap $'s Market Cap MW Market Cap $'s Total Cap $'s Market Cap MW Market Cap $'s Total Cap $'s Market Cap MW Market Cap $'s Total Cap $'s

Total Net Capactiy Bilats
Sum
Fall
Win
Spr

(56.7) ($2,129,537) $3.11 (74.5) ($3,831,299) $4.29 (52.0) ($2,975,371) $4.77 (52.7) ($3,014,516) $4.77 (38.3) ($2,143,611) $4.67
(64.5) ($622,812) $3.22 (79.7) ($1,033,970) $4.32 (55.0) ($787,057) $4.77 (55.6) ($795,312) $4.77 (41.1) ($577,155) $4.68
(57.2) ($545,961) $3.18 (74.1) ($951,859) $4.28 (54.3) ($776,036) $4.77 (54.0) ($771,574) $4.77 (38.4) ($537,810) $4.67
(47.1) ($401,505) $2.84 (66.5) ($843,277) $4.23 (48.7) ($695,997) $4.77 (50.0) ($714,426) $4.77 (36.2) ($506,379) $4.66
(58.0) ($559,259) $3.21 (77.5) ($1,002,193) $4.31 (50.1) ($716,281) $4.77 (51.3) ($733,203) $4.77 (37.3) ($522,267) $4.67

Net Contracted Bilateral Capacity
PY 26/27 PY 27/28 PY 28/29 PY 29/30 PY 30/31

Net Bilat MW Net Bilat $'s $/kw-mo. Net Bilat MW Net Bilat $'s $/kw-mo. Net Bilat MW Net Bilat $'s $/kw-mo. Net Bilat MW Net Bilat $'s $/kw-mo. Net Bilat MW Net Bilat $'s $/kw-mo.



Page 6 of 7

Net REC Position
Available Banked RECs
Hedge Policy REC Requirement
Assembly Solar
Assembly Solar Phase II
Beebe
Brandt Woods Solar
Hart Solar
Invenergy Calhoun Solar
Landfill Project (EDL)
Landfill Project (NANR)
Pegasus
White Tail Solar

136,136 208,911 275,926 343,337 318,236 292,977 262,762 232,367 201,522
91,338 163,828 236,603 303,618 371,029 345,928 320,669 290,454 260,059
(41,437) (40,738) (40,222) (39,598) (131,894) (131,827) (131,779) (131,743) (131,712)
10,601 10,546 10,493 10,437 10,382 10,327 10,281 10,237 10,180
8,786 8,738 8,695 8,651 8,604 8,557 8,522 8,476 8,433
5,805 5,804 5,804 5,803 5,803 5,801 5,804 5,804 5,804
4,362 4,492 4,477 4,447 4,425 4,403 4,389 4,359 4,337
1,710 7,700 7,670 7,639 7,608 7,578 7,548 7,518 7,487
13,756 13,705 13,668 13,622 13,581 13,537 13,504 13,460 13,423
15,505 8,663 2,584 2,580 2,580 2,579 2,585 2,580 2,308
4,460 4,839 4,839 4,839 4,839 4,837
17,544 17,544 17,544 17,547 17,546 17,542 17,544 17,544 17,544
3,706 3,790 3,771 3,752 3,733 3,715 3,696 3,677 3,659

Compliance Year 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034

Forecasted Renewable Energy Credit (REC) Position for GRAN

Forecasted REC Position by Compliance Year

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
R
E
C
s

2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034
-200K

-100K

0K

100K

200K

300K

400K

500K

177,573

(41,437)

249,649

(40,738)

316,148

(40,222)

382,935

(39,598)

(131,894)

424,804

(131,827)

394,541

(131,779)

364,110

(131,743)

333,234

(131,712)

136,136

208,911

275,926

343,337
318,236 292,977

262,762
232,367

201,522

450,130

REC Requirement REC Supply Net REC Position

3 Year Avg Retail Sales
Hedge Policy REC Target %
Hedge Policy REC Requirement
VGP REC %
VGP REC Requirement

(276,244) (271,585) (268,145) (263,987) (263,788) (263,653) (263,558) (263,485) (263,423)
15.0% 15.0% 15.0% 15.0% 50.0% 50.0% 50.0% 50.0% 50.0%

(41,437) (40,738) (40,222) (39,598) (131,894) (131,827) (131,779) (131,743) (131,712)
0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Compliance Year 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034

Forecasted REC volumes are based on actual meter data when available and use the latest modeled generation for future timeframes. 
Available Banked RECs in a compliance year reflect the forecasted Net REC Position at the end of the previous year.



Page 7 of 7

Daily Actual Lookback for GRAN

Delivery Date

M
e
g
aw
at
t 
H
o
u
rs

Dec
01,
2025

Dec
02,
2025

Dec
03,
2025

Dec
04,
2025

Dec
05,
2025

Dec
06,
2025

Dec
07,
2025

Dec
08,
2025

Dec
09,
2025

Dec
10,
2025

Dec 11,
2025

Dec 12,
2025

Dec 13,
2025

Dec
14,
2025

Dec 15,
2025

Dec 16,
2025

Dec 17,
2025

Dec 18,
2025

Dec 19,
2025

Dec
20,
2025

Dec 21,
2025

Dec
22,
2025

Dec
23,
2025

Dec
24,
2025

Dec
25,
2025

Dec
26,
2025

Dec 27,
2025

Dec
28,
2025

Dec
29,
2025

Dec
30,
2025

Dec 31,
2025

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

6
0
0

6
2
2

6
8
8

70
0

75
2

5
5
4

5
2
2

6
2
7

6
5
6

6
5
7

6
2
5

6
4
2

6
0
8

5
7
1

6
9
0

7
12

7
15

74
5

73
3 6
2
6

6
15

6
9
8

6
9
3 6
0
2

5
6
1

6
0
4 4
8
0

4
9
9

74
9

7
16 6
4
4

800 809 813 837
804

654

843 836 813 816

724

847 822
789 809

662
710

557 562

659

Actual Supply (w/o Peaking) Actual Load Avg Budgeted Load

Delivery Month

M
e
g
aw
at
t 
H
o
u
rs

A
ctu
al %

 H
e
d
g
e
d

Jan 25 Feb 25 Mar 25 Apr 25 May 25 Jun 25 Jul 25 Aug 25 Sep 25 Oct 25 Nov 25 Dec 25
0K

5K

10K

15K

20K

25K

30K

35K

0 %

20 %

40 %

60 %

80 %

100 %

2
1,6
9
1

18
,18
9

19
,8
74

18
,4
8
0

18
,8
9
5

2
1,8
3
4

2
4
,9
73

2
5
,3
9
2

19
,8
15

18
,4
6
9

17,4
4
4

19
,9
0
2

2
0
,4
9
6

19
,2
3
6

19
,5
3
5

18
,0
6
6

19
,14
0

2
1,8
5
8

2
5
,2
3
0

2
5
,7
2
5

2
0
,2
6
2

18
,7
70

17,8
8
3

19
,2
5
4

90%

84%

91% 91% 89%

82%

80%

89%
85% 85% 88% 88%

24,079

21,671 21,728
20,295

21,189

26,690

31,243

28,397

23,259
21,608

19,917

22,649

Actual Supply (w/o Peaking) Budgeted Supply (w/o Peaking) Actual Load Budgeted Load Actual % Hedged

Actual vs Budget Lookback for GRAN



 GRAND HAVEN BOARD OF LIGHT AND POWER 
GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT 

 BOARD MEETING OF FEBRUARY 23, 2026 

  - 1 - 
 

5. B. The BLP Financial Statements and Dashboards for the month ending January 31, 2026, are 

enclosed for review. These materials represent the utility’s financial position through the 

first 58% of the fiscal year.   

 

 INCOME STATEMENT 

Total charge revenues are currently at 63% of the annual budget and are tracking 5.9% 

above projections. Year-to-date kilowatt-hour usage is 5.26% higher than budgeted, 

primarily due to warmer-than-expected weather during the first quarter of FY2026. See 

below: 

 

As of this reporting period, Operating Expenses are at 61% of the annual budget. 

Purchased power, which comprises more than 70% of total operating expenses, is now 5% 

above budget due to purchased kwh greater than budgeted.  See below: 

 

 

 

over(under)

Total Charges for Service 1,283,465$                 

Other Revenue 108,966                       

1,392,431                   

Purchased Power 634,429                       

Departments Salary and Fringe (102,975)                     

Departments Other (215,195)                     

Other 135,570                       

451,830                       

Depreciation 10,746                         

Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses) 260,458                       

Transfers to City of Grand Haven 93,466                         

Increase in Net Assets 1,096,846$                 

Income Statement Budget to Actual Variance

Kwh Over (Under) Budget 5.26% 8,365,216                Kwh 1,143,063$        

Sales$ per Kwh Over (Under) Budget 0.61% 0.00083$                  per Kwh 138,966$            

1,282,029$        

Retail Sales Budget Variance



 GRAND HAVEN BOARD OF LIGHT AND POWER 
GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT 

 BOARD MEETING OF FEBRUARY 23, 2026 

  - 2 - 
 

 

Year-to-Date Renewable Energy Purchases equal 41,570,921 kilowatt-hours, 

representing 24% of total power purchases.   

  The Net Position has increased by $4,388,584 since the start of the fiscal year.   

BALANCE SHEET 

As of January 31, 2026, Cash and Cash Equivalents totaled $26,843,991. This figure 

excludes funds designated for remediation, bond redemption, and working capital held with 

MPIA and MPPA. The current cash balance remains above the established minimum 

reserve threshold. 

The Asset Retirement Obligation liability stands at $16,612,774, with $1,194,980 

disbursed this year for remediation activities. 

The FY2026 Capital Plan was approved at $6,152,000. To date, 52.8% of the budgeted 

capital project funds have been expended. 

5. F. Confirm Purchase Orders – There is one (1) confirming Purchase Order on the Consent 

Agenda this month of $36,906 for your confirmation. 

  Confirming Purchase Orders on the Consent Agenda are either routine expenses within 

approved budgeted parameters, with prequalified and approved contractors or vendors, 

services or supplies that may have required immediate attention, again using prequalified 

and approved contractors or vendors when possible or change orders under a previously 

approved PO (and we are seeking after the fact concurrence/confirmation of the expenditure 

by the Board).  

  The PO number, contractor name, associated dollar value, and short description of this item 

are listed on the agenda.   

All applicable purchasing policy provisions associated with these Purchase Orders were 

followed. Budgeted funds are available. Staff is recommending approval. (Board action is 

requested through the approval of the Consent Agenda). 

 

 

Kwh Over (Under) Budget 4.54% 7,419,172                Kwh 541,460$            

Cost Over (Under) Budget per Kwh 0.75% 0.54472$                  per Kwh 92,966$              

634,429$            

Purchased Power Budget Variance



 GRAND HAVEN BOARD OF LIGHT AND POWER 
GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT 

 BOARD MEETING OF FEBRUARY 23, 2026 

  - 3 - 
 

6. A. Approve Purchase Orders – There are three (3) Purchases Orders totaling $342,569 on the 

regular agenda. 

  The PO number, contractor name, associated dollar value, and short description of this item 

are listed on the agenda. 

  I, or an appropriate staff member, can answer any further questions you may have regarding 

these items.  

  All applicable purchasing policy provisions associated with these items were followed. 

Capital planning or budgeted funds are available. Staff is recommending approval of these 

Purchase Orders. (Board action is requested). 

I have one (1) PO for which I would like to give more detail. 

PO #23629 – City of Grand Haven: This PO is to allow the BLP to reimburse the City for 

work to be performed by HDR.  The scope of work is to perform phases 2 & 3 of the 

Remedial Data Collection Work Plan (CCR portion only).  Please see the attached memo and 

the City and proposal from HDR.  This work is scheduled for spring and summer of 2026.  

City Staff is recommending approval. 

6. B. Power Purchase Commitment – Enclosed in the packet is a Power Purchase Commitment 

(PPC).  This PPC will authorize MPPA to make power purchases on behalf of the GHBLP 

consistent with our Energy Hedge Plan under the Energy Services Agreement between 

MPPA and Grand Haven.  Staff recommends approval.  

 

  RS/dm 

Attachments 2/19/26 



City of Grand Haven 
City Manager’s Office 

616-847-4888 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 

 
TO:  BLP Board  
 
CC:   Rob Shelley – General Manager BLP 
  Ashley Latsch – City Manager  
 
FROM:  Derek Gajdos – Project Management Director  
 
DATE:  February 6, 2026 
 
SUBJECT: HDR Task Order 27 – CCR Data Collection Work Plan Phase 2 & 3 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
The City’s Renew Harbor Island project is moving into its final data collection phases with the 
project’s approved Michigan Department of Environment Great Lakes and Energy (EGLE) Data 
Collection Work Plan.  The Work Plan is split into three phases.  This is necessary because Phases 
II and III are dependent on what is found/identified in Phase I.  All three phases are intended to 
gather final site-specific information to support remedial design and selection, which is 
anticipated to occur in the second or third quarter of 2026.  City staff and the City’s Environmental 
Legal Counsel reviewed the work plan prior to submission to EGLE.   
 
Phase 2 & 3 of the Remedial Data Collection Work Plan will begin after authorization from the 
BLP and City Council and is anticipated to conclude in summer 2026.     
 
Task Order 27 splits out the CCR efforts of the Work Plan and includes the following: 

• Topographic and Bathymetric Surveys 

• Wetland Evaluations 

• Aquifer Testing 

• Groundwater Modeling 
 
One important note regarding Task 37.3, the aquifer test: To control costs and have flexibility 
with disposal of the pumped water, any treatment costs will be billed directly to the City.  
Currently, the City is permitted to return the water to the aquifer which should require no 
treatment costs, however, if there becomes a need to treat the pumped water city staff will move 
forward with the most efficient and cost-effective process.  If there are any treatment costs, city 
staff will work with BLP staff to come up with an agreed upon cost share dependent on actual 
contamination observed within the discharge of waters.  
 
 



 

 

The work plan will be considered by City Council at its February 16, 2026 Council Meeting.  This 
was done in order to be expeditious and not prolong the start of this task orders efforts.  It is 
proposed by city staff that City Council’s approval is fully contingent upon the BLP Boards 
approval for this Task Order.   
 
Therefore, city staff request the BLP Board approve the proposed Task Order 27, Task 37 with 
HDR of Ann Arbor Michigan in the not to exceed amount of $232,377.  



































 

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
809 Centennial Way - Lansing, MI 48917 - Phone: 517.323.8919 - www.mpower.org 

 
 

January 15, 2026 
 

Subject: Power Purchase Commitment Authorization 
 
The Grand Haven Board of Light & Power (“Grand Haven”), through its Member Authorized Representative, hereby 
authorizes the purchase of Energy by Michigan Public Power Agency (“MPPA”) on behalf of Grand Haven at the 
following Quantity, Term, Delivery Location and not to exceed price levels. These transactions, if executed by MPPA, are 
Power Purchase Commitments under the Energy Services Agreement between MPPA and Grand Haven.  
 
 
Energy: 

 

 
 
 

The transaction(s) above will be for Financially-Firm Energy with Physical delivery to the MISO Michigan Hub in the Day 
Ahead Market at or below the annual total dollar not to exceed limits. 
 
 
The purchase transactions outlined above account for the identified percentages of Grand Haven’s forecasted energy 
requirements in the applicable forward calendar years. The sum of all purchases represents a maximum commitment of 
$15,186,074.60. 
 
MPPA will endeavor to wait to execute wholesale power transaction confirmations until it receives PPC Authorization 
from each Member Authorized Representative (“MAR”) unless a delay in execution by an individual MAR would result in 
power supply price risk that could prevent MPPA from complying with volume and dollar price approval limits. 
 
Member Authorized Representative: 
 
 
_______________________  
Printed 
 
_______________________   
Signature 
 
_______________________  
Date 

Delivery Period
ONPK 
(5x16)

OFFPK
(5x8, 2x24)

ONPK 
(5x16)

OFFPK
(5x8, 2x24) ATC (7x24) ATC (7x24)

Term 2028 2028 2029 2029 2030 2031 Total
Max Monthly Quantity (MW) 12.3 9.2 12.4 11.2 8.2 3.6

Total Quantity (MWh) 39,768.0            34,626.2            41,296.0            39,274.6            45,043.2            8,992.8             209,000.8         
Total $ (not to exceed) $3,270,000.00 $1,998,717.40 $3,518,388.80 $2,351,402.00 $3,331,464.00 $716,102.40 $15,186,074.60
Average Price, $/MWh $82.23 $57.72 $85.20 $59.87 $73.96 $79.63 $72.66

% of Load 27.5% 27.8% 28.6% 31.5% 16.6% 3.3%
Forecasted Hedge % After 

Transaction 80.2% 80.2% 70.1% 70.3% 55.1% 41.7%



POWER SUPPLY: 

WINTER STORM FERN 

TAKEAWAYS

January 23-February 1, 2026

Presented  to  Board o f  D i rec tors  on  February  23 ,  2026



COLD DURING WINTER STORM FERN, NOT AS 

WIDESPREAD AS OTHER RECENT STORMS



Midcontinent Independent System 

Operator (MISO)

▪ MISO prov ided an Overv iew of  Winter  Storm 

Fern on February  17,  2026 (ava i lab le on l ine).

▪ A Conservat ive Operat ions A ler t  (System 

Wide) was in  e f fec t  f rom Jan 23,  00:00 EST –  

Jan 29,  23:59 EST.  

▪ To mainta in re l iab i l i ty,  two Max imum 

Generat ion Events  were dec lared on January  

24 a l lowing MISO access  to generat ion un i t  

emergency ranges,  load modi fy ing resource 

cur ta i lments,  and emergency power 

purchases.   

▪ Energy was impor ted f rom ne ighbor ing 

systems.

▪ Dashboard screenshots  f rom 1/24/2026 show 

st rong re l iance on base load generat ing 

assets.



• BLP System Operators 

monitor portal on a 24/7 

basis.

• Units in portal are in 

Megawatts (MW).

➢ Forecasted Load –  B i la tera l  –

Landf i l l  Gas  = Forecasted LMP

➢ Forecasted LMP –  So la r  –  W ind  = 

Day Ahead LMP 

• Low wind and solar forecast 

on 1/24/2026 required 

purchases from Day Ahead 

(DA) markets.  

• Solar maximum hourly 

generation was 14.4 MW in 

2025. 

• Wind maximum hourly 

generation was 8.3 MW in 

2025.

MPPA Portal: January 24, 2026



High Day Ahead 

Energy Prices

• This is the longest 

consecut ive t ime frame 

where Day Ahead pr ices 

stayed above $100/MWh.

• Graph shows the importance 

of fol lowing a proper hedge 

plan. 

• Grand Haven’s targeted 

hedge plan is 75%-95% 

during the current year. 

• I f  load exceeds forecast,  then 

addit ional power must be 

purchased in the Real Time 

Market.

• I f  any generat ion is less than 

forecast then addit ional 

power must be purchased in 

the Real Time Market.  



Highly Volatile Real 

Time Pricing 

• Price spikes in real 

time markets are 

signals of supply-

demand imbalance 

and system strain. 

• Emergency prices 

were not published by 

MISO on January 24 

due to technical 

issues. 

• Therefore, emergency 

conditions and 

imports were not 

properly incentivized. 



Renewable Energy

• Wind max imum hour ly  

generat ion was 8.3 MW in  

2025.

• Solar  max imum hour ly 

generat ion was 14.4 MW in  

2025.  

• As wind and so lar  cont inue to 

grow in  our  por t fo l io,  per iods  

of  lower generat ion are  

expanding f rom da i ly  var ia t ions  

to seasona l  t imesca les .   

• Per iods of  low renewable 

output increase re l iance on 

shor t - term energy markets,  

somet imes dur ing h igh pr iced 

per iods .  

• Dispatchable f lex ib le resources  

wi l l  g row in  impor tance dur ing 

these seasona l  constra ints.   



January

• January  is  becoming one of  the most  

expens ive months of  the  year  for  energy.

✓ 2023 –  H ighest  month ($1 .5  mi l l ion)

✓ 2024 –  3 rd h ighes t  month ($1 .4  mi l l ion)

✓ 2025 –  4 th h ighes t  month ($1 .4  mi l l ion)

✓ 2026 –  To  Be  Determined  ($1.9  mi l l ion)

• Pat terns  are  emerging wi th  h igher  day 

ahead energy pr ices  for  longer  durat ions  in  

January.  

• Renewable generat ion is  lower in  

January.   

• Average week ly costs  for  energy pr ior  to 

s torm was ~$316,000.

• Weekly costs  for  energy dur ing s torm 

was ~$763,000.



THERE IS NO SILVER BULLET TO THE ENERGY TRANSITION.

IT WILL TAKE AN “ALL OF THE ABOVE”  BALANCED APPROACH.  

• Resource adequacy i s  an  inc reas ing concern and  w i l l  become even  more 

c r i t i ca l  over  t ime.  

• Main ta in ing a  degree o f  loca l  contro l  can  he lp  p reserve a f fo rdab i l i ty  in  the  

fu ture .  

• Energy pr i ce  vo la t i l i ty  may pers i s t  as  t rad i t iona l  base load generat ing asse ts  

are  re t i red.  

• Whi le  in te rmit tent  &  emerg ing generat ion technolog ies  (such  as  s to rage)  are  

important ,  there w i l l  cont inue  to  be  a  need  fo r  d i spatchab le ,  on -demand 

resources  that  can  operate  re l i ab ly  th rough seasona l  const ra ints .   

• Proact ive  p lann ing &  prudent  dec i s ion -mak ing today are  essent ia l  to  ensur ing 

our  community -owned u t i l i ty  rema ins  s t rong and  sus ta inab le  fo r  fu ture  

generat ions .   



Behind the Meter Resource Adequacy 
Assessment Strategic Objective  

2026 – 2027 Workplan

February 11, 2026

mpower.org



Background

2
www.mpower.org                                                                                                      © Michigan Public Power Agency                                                                                               2

• In 2025, MPPA initiated a multi-year, multi-phase resource adequacy objective:

o Phase I - Assessment of individual Members’ interest and capability to install behind-the-meter generation 
(BTMG) – natural gas and/or Battery Energy Storage Systems ("BESS") – within their service territories, 
connected to their distribution system

• This objective is essential to:

o Help address the forecasted capacity deficit starting in Planning Year/Delivery Year (“PY” or “DY”) 
2030/2031

o Meet PA 341’s Capacity Compliance Demonstration Requirements, for PY 30/31, in March 2027

• MPPA's Position: 

o Investments in and/or contracts for new thermal and BESS power supply capacity resources will 
be required to help meet our future resource adequacy needs and compliance requirements

o Locating power supply capacity resources in our Member communities is a logical strategy that leverages 
our assets & control



Resource Adequacy Strategic 
Objective Workplan Overview

3
www.mpower.org                                                                                                      © Michigan Public Power Agency                                                                                               3

• Phase I (2025):  Member Interest & Capability in Projects
o Identified numerous sites across Member communities with a potential capability to install over 200 MWs.

• Phase 2 (2026):  BTMG Projects & Power Supply Portfolio Analysis; BTMG Project 
Ownership Structure; Member Engagement, Feedback & Direction

• Phase 3 (2027):  BTMG Projects Approval and Development Implementation

• Phase 4 (2028-2030):  BTMG Project Development and Commercialization



Q1 to Mid-Year 2026: 
Activities & Outcomes

Vendor & technology 
assessment (RFI)

Owner’s engineer / 
consultant selection

Economic modeling 
(Dispatch & 

Investment Models)

Power supply 
resource fit & 

portfolio analysis

DECISION POINT #1:  

MPPA 
recommendation for 

how to proceed

Member “decision” 
& direction

4
www.mpower.org                                                                                                      © Michigan Public Power Agency                                                                                               4

BTMG Ownership Analysis & MPPA Project Creation Strategies

Member & Governing Body Engagement and Feedback



Member & Governing Body Engagement

Comprehensive and Detailed Plan

“All of the Above Playbook” engagement strategy

• MPPA BOC

• Long Term Power Supply Planning Project

• Individual Member

• Member Governing Body

Critical that Members engage … and prioritize engagement

5
www.mpower.org                                                                                                      © Michigan Public Power Agency                                                                                               5



Mid-Year 2026 to Q4: 
Activities & Outcomes

Environmental phase II studies

Distribution system impact 
studies

Fuel supply due diligence

DECISION POINT #2:  

MPPA recommendation for 
how to proceed

Member “decision” & direction

Vendor(s) best and final pricing

Refresh economic modeling & 
power supply resource fit & 

portfolio analysis

Pre-Financing Activities

Pre-Permitting Activities

Pre-MPPA Project Creation 
Activities

6
www.mpower.org                                                                                                      © Michigan Public Power Agency                                                                                               6



2027 Activities*

MPPA recommendations

DECISION POINT #3:  MPPA BOC and Member governing body approvals of BTMG projects

Create internal MPPA Project(s) / Members join Project(s)

Vendor contract negotiation & execution

Financing

Major equipment and material orders

Environmental permitting

Fuel supply contracts and procurement strategy

RTO BTMG registration strategy

7
www.mpower.org                                                                                                      © Michigan Public Power Agency                                                                                               7

*Not all are sequenced in order of operations



2025 Carbon Report

MPPA has established a standardized methodology for calculating both historical and forward-looking
carbon emissions from its Members’ power supply portfolios. This initiative is increasingly important as the
energy sector transitions to a more diverse mix of generation assets and carbon footprints become more
prominent in legislative, policy, and end use customer considerations and actions. 

The methodology relies on MISO’s (the regional transmission organization) regional reliability forecasts and
latest emissions data, MPPA asset project generation data and internal modeling forecasts, historical and
forecasted Member load, and Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) data to produce accurate Member-
level carbon intensity reports – which are all compiled annually for analysis. MISO’s historical emissions
datasets that provide actual CO2 emission rates by fuel type are constrained by EPA data, which is released
with a 2-year lag. 2024 data was released in February 2026, with future releases expected in the first
quarter of subsequent years.

To calculate emissions, the methodology assigns emission rates to project assets and Member owned
resources based on respective fuel type—such as coal, natural gas, nuclear, wind, and solar—and uses
these rates to calculate total carbon output. Since actual resource type is unknown for bilateral energy
hedge transactions and market balancing energy, emission rates are given the emission rates at the MISO
Zone 7 market fuel sources percentages. The results present historical monthly data and forward-looking
yearly projections as visual summaries of total emissions and carbon intensity. Currently, CO2 equivalents
(CO2e) are unavailable for MISO projection/forecast data but can potentially be considered in future
iterations of this report. Similarly, the process and results will be continuously improved through annual
updates, such as further integration with internal systems, with future enhancements planned as MISO’s
reporting capabilities expand. 

Each forward-looking chart and graph demonstrates the general trends of increasing load and reduced
carbon emission. The drivers of these are a combination of MPPA’s contracting efforts, renewable generation
penetration, and coal resource retirements within MISO. However, an everchanging energy market and
political climate have increased uncertainty and may increase the variance between forecasts and observed
data. For example, MISO’s projections may shift in future data updates as renewable penetration is slower
than previously expected. MPPA’s approach mitigates this turbulence and ensures that carbon reporting is
consistent and aligns with evolving standards set by MISO.



CO2 Emission Factor (Tons CO2/MWh)

C
O
2

 E
m
is
si
o
n
s 
Fa
ct
o
r 
(T
o
n
s 
C
o
2
/M
W
h
)

Lo
ad

 (M
W
h
)

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034
0

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0K

50K

100K

150K

200K

250K

300K

2
6
9
,8
19

2
8
3
,3
9
1

2
79
,5
0
2

2
8
2
,7
2
6

2
6
5
,5
9
5

2
6
8
,7
19

2
6
8
,4
9
0

2
6
8
,3
9
0

2
6
8
,3
2
2

2
6
8
,2
3
5

2
6
8
,174

2
6
8
,0
8
9

2
6
8
,0
2
0

0
.5
9
1

0
.5
3
1

0
.5
2
8

0
.4
2
9

0
.3
0
4

0
.2
8
3

0
.2
6
5

0
.17
1 0
.117

0
.10
4

0
.0
74

0
.0
4
2

0
.0
3
7

Annual CO2 Emissions (Tons) By Supply Source

C
O
2

 E
m
is
si
o
n
s 
(T
o
n
s)

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034
0K

50K

100K

150K

200K

118
,8
8
0

12
5
,0
8
2

110
,4
3
5

10
3
,6
4
3

9
0
,2
6
8 5
9
,5
11

3
7,4
5
4

2
5
,12
8

2
9
,8
5
5

2
7,3
4
0

4
1,3
73 3
5
,0
0
9

Page 1 of 4

Market Balancing

Landfill Project

Contracted Bilateral Energy Transactions

Load MWh Tons CO2/MWh

A dashed line indicates the cutoff where emissions data becomes forecasted instead of reported

GRAN



Page 2 of 4

Member Portfolio Fuel Source (%) including Market Fuel 2024

40.0 %
Contracted Bilateral Energy Transactions: Coal,
59,040

28.0 %
Contracted Bilateral Energy Transactions: Natural Gas,

41,277

20.2 %
Landfill Project: Biomass, 29,855

5.4 %
Market Balancing: Coal, 7,939

3.8 %
Market Balancing: Natural Gas, 5,583

0.3 %
Market Balancing: Biomass, 407

0.2 %
Contracted Bilateral Energy Transactions: Petroleum, 257

0.0 %
Market Balancing: Petroleum, 34

Natural Gas: 94,423 MWh, 33.7 %

Coal: 62,731 MWh, 22.4 %

Wind: 45,396 MWh, 16.2 %

Solar: 32,254 MWh, 11.5 %

Biomass: 25,624 MWh, 9.1 %
Nuclear: 19,105 MWh, 6.8 %

Hydro: (457) MWh, -0.2 %

Petroleum: 425 MWh, 0.2 %

CO2 Emissions (Tons) by % of Total including Market Fuel 2024

GRAN

Since actual resource type is unknown, emission rates for bilateral energy hedge transactions and market balancing
energy are assigned the emission rates at the MISO Zone 7 market fuel sources percentages.



MISO Zone 7 Market Fuel Source (%)

M
ar
ke
t 
Fu
e
l S
o
u
rc
e

 (
%
)

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034

0 %

20 %

40 %

60 %

80 %

4
4
.1%

4
1.6
%

2
9
.7
%

3
0
.2
%

4
2
.3
%

2
9
.6
%

2
8
.3
%

2
8
.7
%

16
.4
%

2
5
.1%

3
4
.1%

4
5
.4
%

4
5
.8
%

2
4
.7
%

2
2
.0
%

19
.1%

19
.2
%

2
0
.9
%

2
1.2
% 2
1.7
% 2
4
.2
%

19
.7
%

19
.2
%

18
.2
%

18
.9
%

18
.8
%

17.1%

2
0
.8
%

2
8
.3
%

2
7.4
%

2
9
.4
%

2
8
.3
%

3
2
.8
%

3
5
.4
%

13
.9
%

15
.6
%

17.6
% 3
3
.5
%

3
3
.4
%

3
8
.0
%

3
6
.8
%

3
5
.5
%

Page 3 of 4

Wind

Waste

Storage Discharge

Storage Charge

Solar

Petroleum

Other

Nuclear

Natural Gas

Hydro

Coal

Biomass

MISO Zone 7 Market Fuel Source (%) 2024

M
ar
ke
t 
Fu
e
l S
o
u
rc
e

 (
%
)

Jan 24 Feb 24 Mar 24 Apr 24 May 24 Jun 24 Jul 24 Aug 24 Sep 24 Oct 24 Nov 24 Dec 24
0 %

20 %

40 %

60 %

80 %

3
0
.4
%

2
3
.0
%

17.5
%

3
0
.2
%

2
5
.9
%

3
3
.2
%

3
3
.5
%

3
3
.3
%

3
6
.2
%

3
7.0
%

2
7.1%

3
4
.7
%

4
7.3
%

4
9
.0
%

4
9
.0
%

4
5
.6
%

5
2
.1%

4
4
.0
%

5
0
.5
%

4
9
.3
%

4
2
.8
%

3
4
.6
%

4
5
.5
%

3
9
.7
%

18
.6
%

18
.6
%

13
.5
%

Wind

Waste

Solar

Petroleum

Other

Nuclear

Natural Gas

Hydro

Coal

Biomass

GRAN



Page 4 of 4

Annual CO2 Emissions (Tons) by Fuel Source

C
O
2

 E
m
is
si
o
n
s 
(T
o
n
s)

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034
0K

50K

100K

150K

200K
3
3
,3
3
2

10
9
,13
9

10
6
,19
8

7
1,2
8
8

6
6
,9
79

8
8
,8
12

5
4
,0
8
9

5
0
,5
8
8

5
3
,6
18

3
1,16
9

3
6
,9
9
4

4
9
,3
6
7

4
6
,8
5
9

Member Portfolio Fuel Source (%)

P
o
rt
fo
lio

 F
u
e
l S
o
u
rc
e

 (
%
)

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034

0 %

20 %

40 %

60 %

80 %

3
5
.9

%

3
2
.6

%

2
3
.1%

2
2
.4

%

3
1.1%

2
0
.3

%

18
.9

%

2
0
.1%

2
0
.9

%

2
7.0

%

3
5
.0

%

3
3
.8

%

18
.3

%

15
.2

%

15
.4

%

14
.1% 15
.1% 17.3

%

16
.0

%

2
3
.8

%

2
8
.2

%

3
1.2

%

3
7.0

% 3
6
.5

%

3
7.9

%

3
7.6

%

4
0
.9

%

4
2
.8

%

14
.9

%

16
.5

%

14
.9

%

16
.2

%

17.6
%

18
.0

%

17.7
%

19
.2

%

2
1.0

%

3
2
.3

%

3
2
.3

%

3
6
.1%

3
5
.4

%

3
4
.4

%

Petroleum Natural Gas Coal Biomass

Wind

Storage Discharge

Storage Charge

Solar

Petroleum

Other

Nuclear

Natural Gas

Hydro

Coal

Biomass

GRAN



0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

350,000

2017 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034

CO
2 

Em
is

si
on

s 
(T

on
s)

Chart Annual CO2 Emissions (Tons) By Supply Source

Contracted Bilateral Energy Transactions Tons CO2 Landfill Project Tons CO2 Market Balancing Tons CO2 Sims & Deisel Plants Tons CO2



STRATEGIC
PLANNING
BUSINESS
LUNCH

STRATEGIC
PLANNING
BUSINESS
LUNCH

Grand Haven Board of Light & Power cordially invites you to
attend a key accounts meeting to discuss the upcoming

Strategic Plan. 

WEDNESDAY, MARCH 18 , 2026TH

11:30 AM-1:00 PM

NOTO’S AT THE BIL MAR
1223 S Harbor Drive, Grand Haven

Lunch will be provided.
Please RSVP by March 1 , 2026 to kmorrow@ghblp.org

or call 616-607-1319. 
st

*Please indicate dietary restrictions.

Grand Haven Board of Light & Power
1700 Eaton Drive, Grand Haven MI, 49417 | 616-846-6250


	Insert from: "6D. MPPA BTMG Update.pdf"
	Slide 1: Behind the Meter Resource Adequacy Assessment Strategic Objective    2026 – 2027 Workplan  February 11, 2026
	Slide 2: Background
	Slide 3: Resource Adequacy Strategic  Objective Workplan Overview
	Slide 4: Q1 to Mid-Year 2026:  Activities & Outcomes
	Slide 5: Member & Governing Body Engagement
	Slide 6: Mid-Year 2026 to Q4:  Activities & Outcomes
	Slide 7: 2027 Activities*

	Insert from: "6C. (2026-02-23) Winter Storm Fern Presentation.pdf"
	Slide 1: Power Supply:  Winter Storm FERN Takeaways
	Slide 2
	Slide 3: Midcontinent Independent System Operator (MISO)
	Slide 4
	Slide 5: High Day Ahead Energy Prices
	Slide 6: Highly Volatile Real Time Pricing 
	Slide 7: Renewable Energy
	Slide 8: January
	Slide 9


